#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

### APPEAL FROM FINAL ORDER OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN CASE NO. 4D04-2414, JUDGE C.J. STEVENSON

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

KEVIN T. SMITH LAW OFFICE OF BOHDAN NESWIACHENY Attorneys for Appellants/ Waste Management, Inc. 540 Northeast 4<sup>th</sup> Street Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 Tel. No. (954) 522-5400 Fla. Bar. No. 67296

## **APPENDIX**

1.	Trial Court Order Granting Additur	Exhibit "A"
2.	Fourth District Court of Appeal Decision	
	Dated September 28, 2005	Exhibit "B"

##

#### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

This is an automobile negligence action which was tried before a jury for three days. The Honorable David Krathen presided over this trial. The issues of liability, proximate cause and damages were all hotly contested and extensive evidence was submitted in support of the defendant's contention that plaintiff's back condition was pre-existing and degenerative in nature. The jury returned a verdict on liability as follows: 26% negligence on the plaintiff, 50% negligence on plaintiff's employer ("Fabre" defendant) and 24 % negligence on the defendant, Waste Management, appellant herein.

The jury awarded \$20,000 for past medical bills and lost wages, and \$22,000 for future medical bills and lost wages. The jury awarded zero damages for past and future pain and suffering.

Plaintiffs' filed a Motion Seeking a New Trial on the issue of non-economic damages only. Plaintiffs made it clear to the trial court that they were satisfied with the liability verdict and with the verdict as to economic damages.

The trial court decided that the jury's verdict was inadequate based on a line of cases holding that a jury verdict awarding nothing for pain and suffering, but awarding damages for medical expenses is generally considered inadequate. Appellant does not dispute that conclusion.

The trial court then exercised its discretion pursuant to Section 768.043 to cure the aforementioned inadequacy by granting an additur. The additur consisted of an additional award of \$5,000 for past non-economic damages and \$5,000 for future non-economic damages. The trial court then extended the option of accepting or rejecting the additur to the party adversely affected by the additur, namely, the defendant, Waste Management, who would be required to pay additional monies to the plaintiffs as the result of the additur.

Counsel for the defendant, Waste Management, immediately accepted the additur, the court molded the additur pursuant to the liability percentages, and entered judgment accordingly.

Plaintiffs took an appeal of that decision to the Fourth District Court of Appeals. That court reversed the decision of the trial court as to the award of an additur and as to the decision to deny plaintiffs' Motion for a New Trial on damages. The Fourth District relied upon the case of Brant v. Dollar Rent A Car Systems, Inc., 869 So.2d 767 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004), but acknowledged that decision was in direct conflict with the case of Beyer v. Leonard, 711 So.2d 568 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997). The Fourth District certified the conflict with that decision.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly interpreted Section 768.043 Florida Statutes in that

recognized that it was the responsibility of the court to review the amount of the damage award to determine if it was inadequate and, if so, to award an additur. Furthermore, the trial court followed the letter of the law as set forth in the last sentence of Section 768.043(1) Florida Statutes by giving the defendant, Waste Management, the option of accepting or rejecting the additur, since only Waste Management was the party adversely affected by the granting of an additur.

The Florida Legislature could have easily used the words "If either party . . . " or "If any party . . ." adversely affected does not agree with the additur, the court shall order a new trial on damages. The fact is that the legislature chose not to use those phrases, but rather used the words, "if **the** party adversely affected by such ... additur does not agree . . . " (*emphasis supplied*).

The language of the statute is clear and the courts should not attempt to rewrite the statute to reach a conclusion contrary to its plain meaning.

# I. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW IS DE NOVO

The issue before this court is one of statutory construction and de novo review standard applies to such issues. Gordon v. Reiger, 877 So.2d 843 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004).

II.

THE DECISION OF THE TRIAL COURT TO ORDER AN ADDITUR TO CORRECT WHAT IT CONSIDERED TO BE AN INADEQUATE VERDICT WAS WITHIN ITS DISCRETION PURSUANT TO SECTION 768.043, AND HAVING PROPERLY GRANTED AN ADDITUR, THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT THE DEFENDANT, WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC. WAS THE PARTY ADVERSELY AFFECT BY SAID ADDITUR AND GAVE THAT DEFENDANT ALONE, THE OPTION OF ACCEPTING THE ADDITUR, OR SEEKING A NEW TRIAL ON DAMAGES.

The jury in this matter returned a verdict that included an award for past medical bills and lost wages, an award for future medical bills and lost wages, and no award for past or future non-economic damages.

This type of verdict is generally considered to be inadequate. <u>Deklyen v.</u>

<u>Truckers World, Inc.</u>, 867 So.2d 1264 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004); <u>Stevens v. Mount</u>

<u>Vernon Fire Ins. Co.</u>, 395 So.2d 1206 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1981). The trial court heard extensive evidence introduced by the defense which called into question the causation of plaintiff's injuries, and the pre-existing nature of those injuries.

Plaintiff filed a timely Motion for New Trial on damages, limited solely to the issue of non-economic damages.

The trial court agreed with plaintiff's contention that the verdict was inadequate. The trial court then exercised the discretion conferred upon it by Section 768.043 Florida Statutes, and elected to grant an additur of \$5,000 for past non-

economic damages, and \$5,000 for future non-economic damages. The trial court then offered the Defendant a period of time to decide whether to accept the additur, or reject it and elect to proceed to a new trial on damages. That decision, which tracks the last sentence of Section 768.043(1) in an exact manner, is the key issue before this court.

The Fourth District Court of Appeals found itself bound by the decision in Brant v. Dollar Rent A Car Systems, Inc., 869 So.2d 767 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004). In Brant, *supra*, the trial court denied the Motion for New Trial, but deferred ruling on the question of additur. The factual issue in Brant was similar to that in the instant case in that the jury awarded damages for past and future medical expenses, but no damages for past or future pain and suffering. The Brant court considered Section 768.043(1) Florida Statutes and the Florida Supreme Court decision in ITT Hartford Insurance Co. of the Southeast v. Owens, 816 So.2d 572 (Fla. 2002) to be controlling on the outcome of the case. In ITT Hartford, supra, the Third District had concluded that Section 768.043 Florida Statutes did not require a defendant to be given the option of a new trial when an additur was granted by the trial court. The Supreme Court reversed, holding that Section 768.043 expressly required that the defendant be given an option to reject an additur and have a new trial on damages. The Supreme Court did not hold that the plaintiff should also be given the same option if

they thought the additur was inadequate.

Appellant herein is somewhat confused by the <u>Brant</u> court's reliance on <u>ITT</u> <u>Hartford</u>, given the conclusion that the <u>Brant</u> court reached. The holding in <u>ITT</u> <u>Hartford</u>, *supra*, is completely consistent with appellant's position herein. In the instant matter, the trial court granted an additur to remedy an inadequate verdict and gave the party adversely affected, the defendant, the option of a new trial on damages.

In <u>ITT Hartford</u>, the Supreme Court cited a number of other examples of cases that dealt with the "party adversely affected" clause in Section 768.043(1) and in Section 768.74 which contains the same language. In <u>Born v. Goldstein</u>, 450 So.2d 262, 264 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1984) the court held that a trial court may not reduce a jury verdict by ordering a remittitur without permitting the plaintiff to have the option of new trial. In <u>Ellis v. Golconda Corp.</u>, 352 So.2d 1221, 1227 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1977) the court held that a trial court is not permitted to reduce the verdict of a jury by ordering a remittitur without permitting the plaintiffs to have the option of a new trial.

In <u>Stuart v. Cather Industries, Inc.</u>, 327 So.2d 99, 100 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1975) the court set aside an order of remittitur which failed to award the plaintiff the alternative of a new trial. In <u>Dura Corp. v. Wallace</u>, 297 So.2d 619 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1974) the court held that a trial judge is not permitted to reduce the verdict of a

jury by ordering a remittitur without permitting the plaintiff to have the option of a new trial.

Finally, the Supreme Court in <u>ITT Hartford</u>, *supra*, cited the case of <u>Doughty v. Insurance Company of North America</u>, 701 So.2d 1225, 1227 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1997) which held that in determining the standard applicable to its review of a trial court order granting an additur, that this court's precedent regarding the standard applicable to appellate review of an order granting a remittitur was instructive, there being no difference, so far as we can see, between a remittitur and an additur.

In all of the aforementioned cases cited in <u>ITT Hartford</u>, the trial court granted a remittitur and the appellate court held that the plaintiff must be given the option of a new trial. Appellant has been unable to locate any precedent for the position that a defendant also has the option of rejecting a remittitur. No case has held that a defendant is also a "party adversely affected" by a remittitur.

An argument could be made that a defendant who was unhappy with the amount of a remittitur should also have the option of rejecting the remittitur and have the option of requesting a new trial. Suppose the amount of the reduction is not enough in the mind of the defendant. The court in <u>Doughty</u>, *supra*, held that there is no difference for appellate review of an additur as opposed to a remittitur.

The meaning of the phrase "party adversely affected" was interpreted as being the plaintiff in a remittitur situation, and the defendant in an additur situation, until the Brant decision was rendered. Although the Brant court

as controlling precedent, there is nothing in that decision that supports their conclusion that a plaintiff is a party adversely affected by an additur. The Brant court also concluded that allowing a trial judge to grant an additur to fix unliquidated damages would introduce constitutional doubts into the statute. Interestingly, the ITT Hartford decision concluded that defendants attack on the constitutionality of Section 768.043 is without merit. Appellant submits that constitutionality is not an issue in this case.

A close look at Section 768.043 Florida Statutes is in order. Sub-Section (3) of that statute states:

"It is the intent of the Legislature to vest the trial courts of this state with the discretionary authority to review the amounts of damages awarded by a trier of fact, in light of a standard of excessiveness or inadequacy. The Legislature recognizes that the reasonable actions of a jury are a fundamental precept of American jurisprudence and that such actions should be disturbed or modified only with caution and discretion. However, it is further recognized that a review by the courts in accordance with the standards set forth in this Section provides an additional element of soundness and logic to our judicial system and is in the best interests of the citizens of Florida."

There can be no question that the Legislature chose to convey discretionary authority to a trial court to review and modify an inadequate verdict. In our case, the jury chose to award zero dollars for past and future pain and suffering. The trial court recognized that award as inadequate, and modified each award to \$5,000 via the use

of an additur. The statute specifically conveys the authority to do just that.

Section 768.043(1) states in pertinent part:

"In any action for the recovery of damages based on personal injury ... arising out of the operation of a motor vehicle ... where the trier of fact determines that liability exists on the part of the defendant and verdict is rendered which awards money damages to the plaintiff, it shall be the responsibility of the court, upon proper motion, to review the amount of such award to determine if such amount is clearly ... inadequate in light of the facts and circumstances which were presented to the trier of fact. If the court finds that the amount awarded is clearly ... inadequate, it shall order ... an additur ... If the party adversely affected by such remittitur or additur does not agree, the court shall order a new trial in the cause on the issue of damages only. (Emphasis supplied)

In <u>Beyer v. Leonard</u>, 711 So.2d 568 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997) a jury awarded the plaintiff awards for past and future economic damages, and an award for past non-economic damages, but awarded zero damages for future non-economic damages. The <u>Beyer</u> court concluded that zero award for future pain and suffering was inadequate and awarded an additur of \$5,000 to the plaintiff. The defendant was given the option of accepting the award or taking a new trial on damages alone. The defendant accepted the additur.

The plaintiff complained that the additur was inadequate and sought a new trial on damages. The Second District analyzed Section 768.043 Florida Statutes and concluded that the party adversely affected by an additur, is the defendant, and that only the defendant had the option of rejecting the additur.

The following quote from the *Beyer* decision parallels the argument appellant advances on this appeal:

"Where there has been an additur, however, and the liable party is required to pay additional damages, it is that liable party who would be "adversely affected." The Legislature, in its wisdom, did not provide, 'If either party affected by such remittitur or additur does not agree, the court shall order a new trial on the issue of damages only.' To construe Section 768.043(1) as urged by appellee would be to alter the clear words of that legislative enactment. We are not allowed that liberty." (*Emphasis supplied*)

Appellant adopts that precise argument on this appeal. Appellant acknowledges the First District's decision in *Bamford v. Williams* 896 So.2d 779 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2004) chose to follow the holding in *Brant* while acknowledging a conflict with the holding in *Beyer*. Appellant respectfully suggests that the courts in *Brant* and *Bamford* have chosen to ignore the clear language of Section 768.043 and that the Court's decision in *Beyer* is the one that best complies with the legislature's intent.

#### CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing legal argument, appellant contends that (a) the trial court properly exercised its discretion to grant an additur to correct what it deemed to be an inadequate verdict; (b) that the trial court correctly interpreted Section

768.043(1) Florida Statutes by identifying defendant as the party adversely affected by an additur, and giving defendant only the option of a new trial; and (c) that the plaintiff did not have the option of rejecting the additur.

As such, appellant asks this Honorable Court to reverse the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeals and to affirm the decision of the trial court with direction that the previously entered judgment, shall be entered against the defendant, Waste Management, Inc. Furthermore, Appellant requests that the decisions in Grant and Bamford be overruled.