# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC05-2024

WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.,	*
	*
Petitioner,	*
VS.	*
	*
ROLANDO MORA & MAURA MORA,	*
	*
Respondents	*
•	*

#### RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

ARTHUR J. MORBURGER Attorney for Respondents Suite 404 19 West Flagler Street Miami, FL 33130 Tel. No. (305) 374-3373 Fla. Bar No. 157287

MICHAEL P. WEISBERG Attorney for Respondents 1925 Brickell Avenue Suite D301 Miami, FL 33129 Tel. No. (305) 854-0996 Fla. Bar No. 106375

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Rolando Mora and his wife Maura Mora, as Plaintiffs, sued Waste Management, Inc., as Defendant, for damages. The complaint alleged that Rolando Mora sustained personal injury as a proximate result of a truck accident and demanded trial by jury.

The case proceeded to trial and, on March 17, 2004, the jury returned a verdict, determining that Plaintiff Rolando Mora was 26% at fault, that Defendant Waste Management, the owner of the truck, was 24% at fault, that Rolando Mora's past medical expenses and loss of earnings was \$20,000, that his future medical expenses and loss of earnings was \$22,000, but that he sustained no damages with regard to pain and suffering, past or future. (R: 182-186)

On Monday, March 29, 2004, the Moras moved for a new trial (R: 187) and later supplemented that motion with a supporting memorandum of law (R: 205). In that motion, in that memorandum, and at the ensuing hearing of that motion, the Moras limited their request for a new trial just to the issue of pain and suffering, past and future (R: 187-189; R: 210; TR 18, lines 13-20). The Moras pointed out that the jury's award of damages just for past and future medicals and loss of earnings was contrary to the evidence and to the manifest weight of the evidence because it was unaccompanied by any award for past and future pain and suffering.

After hearing argument on that issue, the trial court announced an additur "of \$5,000 in past pain and suffering and \$5,000 in future pain and suffering." (TR 15, lines 12-15; TR 22, lines 21-22) The trial court then solicited argument as to whether a plaintiff has the "option" of accepting the additur in lieu of a new trial or rejecting the additur and instead opting for a new trial. (TR 15, lines 16-25) Plaintiffs' attorneys, Michael Weisberg and Anthony Brown, argued that a plaintiff is entitled to that option, citing *Brant v. Dollar Rent A Car Systems, Inc.*, 869 So.2d 767 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004). (TR 13, lines 17 to 14, line 2; TR 20, line 23 to TR 21, line 6) The following exchange ensued:

" MR. BROWN: There was no motion for an additur by the plaintiff, only a motion for new trial by the plaintiff.

THE COURT: But here you asked for an additur?

MR. WEISBERG: Who has? We have not.

THE COURT: You haven't?

MR. WEISBERG: No, no.

THE COURT: So you don't want an additur.

MR. WEISBERG: We want a new trial."

(TR 21, line 24 to TR 22, line 8) Defense counsel cited §§ 768.043 and 768.74, Fla. Stat. and argued that only Defendant had such an option with regard to an additur. (TR 17, lines 4-5; TR 18, lines 21-22; TR 19, lines 17-22; TR 22, line 13; TR 20, lines 4-8)

The court embraced defense counsel's argument, granted the aforementioned

additur, subject only to Defendant's option to proceed instead with a new trial. (TR 22, lines 20-25) Defense counsel thereupon announced to the court that Defendant accepted the additur and asked to have a judgment entered that incorporated that additur – in the total amount of \$12,480¹. (TR 23, lines 7-20) On May 17, 2004, an order was entered that included a judgment for damages in the amount of \$12,480 and a judgment for costs in the amount of \$4,592.80. (R: 217) That order also recited that "plaintiffs' motion for new trial is denied." On May 20, 2004, Plaintiffs further memorialized their rejection of the additur in a "Notice of Refusal to Accept Additur" (R: 221) and moved for reconsideration in regard thereto (R: 219). That motion was denied. (R: 218) Plaintiffs' Notice of Appeal followed on June 11, 2004. (R: 223)

The District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, reversed, holding that, since Plaintiffs timely objected to the additur, they were entitled to a new trial on the issue of damages and the denial of that right was error. *Mora v. Waste Management, Inc.*, 911 So.2d 1251 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2005). The Fourth District certified its decision as being in conflict with that of the Second District in *Beyer v. Leonard*, 711 So.2d 568 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> That \$12,480 total was = [\$42,000 (per verdict) + \$10,000 (additur)] x 24%

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The single case that the Fourth District certified as conflict, *Beyer v. Leonard*, 711 So.2d 568 (Fla. 2<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1997), conflicts not only with *Mora v. Waste Management, Inc.*, 911 So.2d 1251 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2005) but also with the other Florida cases that have addressed the question of whether an additur can foreclose a plaintiff from opting instead for a new trial on his or her unliquidated damage claim. Those cases have uniformly answered that question in the negative, holding that an additur cannot be invoked to preempt an objecting plaintiff's right, under Art. I, § 22, Fla. Const., to jury trial. *Sarvis v. Folsom*, 114 So.2d 490, 492-493 (Fla. 1st DCA 1959); *Bennett v. Jacksonville Expressway Authority*, 131 So.2d 740, 744 (Fla. 1961) (citing *Sarvis*); *Reinhart v. Seaboard Coast Line R. Co.*, 472 So.2d 511 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1970), *rev. denied*, 480 So.2d 1295 (Fla. 1985).

In construing the additur provision included in § 768.043, Fla. Stat., Art. I, § 22, and the aforementioned case precedents militate against any such preemption.

The first rule of statutory construction to be considered is that an unconstitutional construction of a statute is to be avoided. As applied to § 768.043, a construction that would treat an additur as preempting an objecting plaintiff's entitlement to a jury determination should, in light of the aforementioned Florida case precedent, be avoided.

Any such a "preemptive" construction would also run afoul of the second rule of statutory construction, that, in enacting new laws, the Legislature is presumed to be aware of prior Florida case law, that in this case includes the Florida case precedent treating any such preemption as unconstitutional.

Those rules of construction are readily reconciled with § 768.043's reference to "the party adversely affected by the additur," as being entitled to reject that additur and proceed with a new trial. A plaintiff who is dissatisfied with the amount of an additur and wishes instead a new trial on damages is just such a party adversely affected by the additur. *ITT Hartford Insurance Co. of the Southeast v. Owens*, 816 So.2d 572 (Fla. 2002) has itself denominated that party as "a complaining party." Defendant Waste Management is not at all complaining about the additur. To the contrary, it has agreed to it. The only parties who are complaining are the Moras and they are the parties adversely affected by the additur.

The Fourth District therefore correctly reversed the trial court's disallowance of the Moras' rejection of the additur.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. CONFLICTING WITH BEYER IS THE BODY OF FLORIDA CASE LAW UNIFORMLY HOLDING THAT A PLAINTIFF'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY WOULD BE VIOLATED BY AN UNLIQUIDATED DAMAGE ADDITUR THAT FORECLOSES PLAIN-TIFF FROM OPTING INSTEAD TO PROCEED WITH A NEW TRIAL

Petitioner's Initial Brief, at p. 8, makes only token reference to the constitutional-right-to-jury-trial issue, that *Mora v. Waste Management, Inc.*, 911 So.2d 1251 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2005) assigned as one of its two "rationales." Petitioner Waste Management acknowledges the references to that issue in *Brant v. Dollar Rent A Car Systems, Inc.*, 869 So.2d 767, 768 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004) and in *ITT Hartford Insurance Co. of the Southeast v. Owens*, 816 So.2d 572 (Fla. 2002), but then summarily dismisses the issue simply by stating that "constitutionality is not an issue in this case." To the contrary, to construe § 768.043(1), Fla. Stat., as authorizing a trial judge to impose an additur in regard to a non-consenting plaintiffs' unliquidated damage claim would bring that statute into conflict with that plaintiffs' right under Art. I, § 22, Fla. Const.<sup>2</sup> to have his or her damages determined by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Art. I, § 22, Fla. Const. provides that "the right of trial by jury shall be secured to all and remain inviolate forever."

a jury, not by a trial judge.<sup>3</sup> In that same regard, *Mora v. Waste Management, Inc.*, 911 So.2d 1251 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2005), takes note of *Brant*'s "rationale" that any such statutory construction would be "constitutionally dubious." *Brant*, 869 So.2d at769, quoted *Sarvis v. Folsom*, 114 So.2d 490, 492-493 (Fla. 1st DCA 1959), that in turn held:

Where the verdict is excessive, the practice of substituting a remission of the excess for a new trial is not without plausible support in the view that what remains is included in the verdict along with the unlawful excess--in that sense that it has been found by the jury--and that the remittitur has the effect of merely lopping off an excrescence. But, where the verdict is too small, an increase by the court is a bald addition of something which in no sense can be said to be included in the verdict.... To so hold is obviously to compel the plaintiff to forego his constitutional right to the verdict of a jury and accept 'an assessment partly made by a jury which has acted improperly, and partly by a tribunal which has no power to assess.'

\* \*

There is no stronger precept in the Florida Constitution than that which provides that 'the right of trial by jury shall be secured to all and remain inviolate forever.' Dec. of Rights, Sec. 3, F.S.A. A similar provision is found in the Constitution of the United States and that of most states, including California, from which jurisdiction we have cited authority in support of our conclusions. We hold, in line with what we consider to be the better rule and the weight of authority, that in actions at law involving controverted and unliquidated damages courts are without power to require a party to consent to an additur as a condition to refusal to grant a new trial. The attempted exercise of such power is not to be confused with the power

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> That issue is an issue of law and as such is subject to *de novo* review.

of the trial court to correct obvious mathematical errors of the jury when recognized as such by all parties to the litigation, e. g., where in a condemnation proceeding the jury verdict is for a stated amount per acre for a specified acreage and the total award reflects incorrect multiplication.

Sarvis cited inter alia like holdings in Dimick v. Schiedt, 293 U.S. 474, 482 (1935) and Dorsey v. Barba, 226 P.2d 677, 688 (Cal. App. Ct. 1951). Just as in Sarvis, Brant, Dorsey and Dimick, so in Shanahan v. Boston, 193 Mass. 412, 79 N. E. 751 (1907) and Kuebler v. Roberts, 138 Pa.Super. 208, 10 A.2d 862 (1940), the preemption of an objecting plaintiff's right to a new trial by an additur to an unliquidated-damage jury award was held to violate the plaintiff's constitutional right to a trial by jury.

Sarvis has been cited with approval by the Florida Supreme Court in Bennett v. Jacksonville Expressway Authority, 131 So.2d 740, 744 (Fla. 1961), as follows:

"Although we have referred to the additur ordered by the trial judge as indicating the extent to which he considered the verdict unjust, we do not recognize his authority to effectuate an increase in the werdict of the jury. See *Sarvis v. Folsom*, Fla.App., 114 So.2d 490 ..."

And *Sarvis* and *Bennett* have been cited with approval and adhered to in *Reinhart* v. *Seaboard Coast Line R. Co.*, 472 So.2d 511 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1970), rev. denied, 480 So.2d 1295 (Fla. 1985), as follows:

Although we agree that the jury's verdict was grossly inadequate, we find the trial court had no authority to order an additur in lieu of a new

trial. *Bennett v. Jacksonville Expressway Authority*, 131 So.2d 740 (Fla.1961); *Meana v. St. Petersburg Kennel Club, Inc.*, 279 So.2d 329 (Fla. 2d DCA 1973); *Sarvis v. Folsom*, 114 So.2d 490 (Fla. 1st DCA 1959). [FN1] We, therefore, reverse the judgment and remand for yet another new trial, this time on the issue of damages only.

FN1. Despite appellees' argument to the contrary, the party for whose "benefit" the additur was ordered may appeal that order. See, e.g., *Meana* and *Sarvis*. Further, although appellant failed to object to the trial court's additur, the effect of the order of additur, rather than a new trial, would be to deny appellant her right to a jury trial, which is fundamental error. See, e.g., *Sarvis*, 114 So.2d at 492. As such, her failure to object did not waive her right to appeal this error. See *Sanford v. Rubin*, 237 So.2d 134.

Reinhart was decided by the same Second District that later reached a contrary result in *Beyer v. Leonard*, 711 So.2d 568 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1997) – that, in turn, conflicts with *Mora v. Waste Management, Inc.*, 911 So.2d 1251 (Fla. 4<sup>h</sup> DCA 2005).4

Sirvas, Bennett, and Reinhart are entirely consistent with the statement in ITT Hartford Insurance Co. of the Southeast v. Owens, 816 So.2d at 576-577, that § 768.043(1), Fla. Stat. is constitutional, in light of ITT's additional statement that the statute does not preclude either party, as a "complaining party," from rejecting a remittur or additur in favor of a new trial. Indeed, the concurring portion of Chief Justice Wells' separate opinion in ITT makes specific reference to Sirvas, Bennett,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Beyer did not cite back to either Reinhart or Sarvis and did not discuss the

II. THE RULE OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION, THAT AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL CONSTRUCTION OF A STATUTE SHOULD BE AVOIDED, MILITATES AGAINST A CONSTRUCTION OF § 768.043 THAT WOULD TREAT AN ADDITUR AS PREEMPTING A PLAINTIFF'S ENTITLEMENT TO A JURY DETERMINATION

Brant cited the rule of construction that, whenever possible, an unconstitutional construction of a statute should be avoided.<sup>5</sup> That rule was adhered to in State v. Giorgetti, 868 So.2d 512, 518 (Fla. 2004), as follows:

We are also obligated to construe statutes in a manner that avoids a holding that a statute may be unconstitutional. In *Gray v. Central Florida Lumber Co.*, 104 Fla. 446, 140 So. 320 (1932), this Court listed several canons of construction to be followed in interpreting statutory acts:

(1) On its face every act of the Legislature is presumed to be constitutional; (2) every doubt as to its constitutionality must be resolved in its favor; (3) if the act admits of two interpretations, one of which would lead to its constitutionality and the other to its unconstitutionality, the former rather than the latter must be adopted....

An application of that rule was more recently approved in *Tyne v. Time Warner Entertainment Co., L.P.*, 901 So.2d 802, 805 (Fla. 2005). A corollary to that rule is the rule that "[t]he Legislature will be presumed to have intended a constitutional

applicable constitutional issues.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The construction to be accorded to § 768.043 is an issue of law subject to

result." Sandlin v. Criminal Justice Standard & Training Commission, 531 So.2d 1344, 1346 (Fla. 1988).

III. A SECOND RULE OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION, THAT, IN ENACTING NEW LAWS, THE LEGISLATURE IS PRESUMED TO BE AWARE OF PRIOR FLORIDA CASE LAW, FURTHER MILITATES AGAINST ANY CONSTRUCTION OF THE STATUTE THAT WOULD IMPAIR A PLAINTIFF'S RIGHT, ALREADY ESTABLISHED BY PRIOR FLORIDA CASE LAW, TO REJECT AN ADDITUR AND INSTEAD OPT FOR A NEW TRIAL BY JURY

That rule of statutory construction is here augmented by a second rule of statutory construction – that, in enacting new legislation, the Legislature is presumed to have knowledge of prior District Court of Appeal and Florida Supreme Court decisions. *Crescent Miami Center, LLC v. Florida Dept. of Revenue*, 903 So.2d 913, 918 (Fla. 2005). *Crescent* held:

Florida's well-settled rule of statutory construction [is] that the legislature is presumed to know the existing law when a statute is enacted, including 'judicial decisions on the subject concerning which it subsequently enacts a statute.' " *Wood v. Fraser*, 677 So.2d 15, 18 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996) (quoting *Collins Inv. Co. v. Metro. Dade County*, 164 So.2d 806, 809 (Fla.1964)).

That second rule is here applicable because § 768.043 was enacted in 1977, long after *Sarvis*, *Bennett*, and *Reinhart* were decided.

In light of that prior case law, the Legislature's enactment of § 768.043 is

de novo review.

presumed to have been with knowledge that Florida Courts had held that an additur could not be employed to defeat a plaintiff's right under Art. I, § 22, Fla. Const. to trial by jury of an unliquidated damage claim. Therefore, the Legislature should not be presumed to have drafted that statute so as to conflict with that case precedent and with that view of the Florida Constitution.

# IV. THE STATUTE'S REFERENCE TO "THE PARTY ADVERSELY AFFECTED BY THE ADDITUR" DENOMINATES THE PARTY WHO OBJECTS TO THE AMOUNT THEREOF

Nothing in that statute suggests that the Legislature intended to depart from that case precedent. In that regard, *Mora v. Waste Management, Inc.*, 911 So.2d 1251 (Fla. 4<sup>h</sup> DCA 2005) expressly reaffirmed *Brant's* second "rationale" that the statute as worded is entirely consistent with that case precedent. Petitioner Waste Management wrongly argues that the phrase, "the party adversely affected by the ... additur," can refer only to the defendant, who would have to pay the amount of the additur. That argument overlooks the fact that a determination of which party is adversely affected by the additur depends on whether the additur was too much (and thereby adversely affects defendant) or too little (and thereby adversely affects plaintiff) and whether plaintiff's entitlement to a new trial would thereby be

"adversely affected." The phrase, "party adversely affected," is in fact treated by the Florida Supreme Court as synonymous with "the complaining party" in *ITT Hartford Insurance Co. of the Southeast v. Owens*, 816 So.2d at 576-577:

Defendants next contend that the statute substantially abridges the right to a jury trial. We disagree. The statute clearly provides for a new trial in the event the party adversely affected by the remittitur or additur does not agree with the remittitur or additur. In other words, the complaining party need not accept the decision of the judge with respect to remittitur or additur. The party may have the matter of damages submitted to another jury. Defendants' attack on the constitutionality of the statute is without merit. (Italics supplied)

*ITT*'s reasoning is equally applicable to either party who happens to be the "complaining party." In the case at bar, since Waste Management agreed to the additur, the only "complaining parties" were the Moras, who complained that the damage issue should instead be submitted to a jury for determination at a new trial.

These same comments apply with equal force to *Adams v. Wright*, 403 So.2d 391 (Fla. 1981). *Brant*, at 768, likewise cited *Adams* in support of its right-to-jury-trial analysis and, in that regard, cited *Adams* as holding:

"[S]tatute granting power to order additur did not violate constitutional right to trial by jury because statute expressly required new trial if adverse party did not consent to additur."

Beyer stands alone, at odds with the jurisprudence of Florida. Beyer's

contrary holding may be due to the appellant's failure to raise the constitutional issues or the rules of construction surveyed *ante* as points on appeal in *Beyer*. Neither did *Beyer* allude to any of those issues nor did *Beyer* even refer back to the Second District's contrary *Reinhart* decision, that should have served as precedent for the panel that decided *Beyer*. And *Beyer* predated, and did not have the benefit of, the Supreme Court's analysis in *ITT*.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The Fourth District decision here under review should be approved and that of the Second District in *Beyer* should be overruled.